
 
U.S. Department                                         
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Administration 

1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE 
Washington, DC  20590  

May 16, 2023 
 
 
Frank Virginia 
AET Environmental, Inc. 
14 Lakeside Lane 
Denver, CO  80212 
 
Reference No. 23-0019 
 
Dear Mr. Virginia: 
 
This letter is in response to your March 6, 2023, email requesting clarification of the Hazardous 
Materials Regulations (HMR; 49 CFR Parts 171-180) applicable to waste streams containing 
trace amounts of explosive hazardous material. You state that your firm manages hazardous and 
non-hazardous waste for waste generators, and you are currently working with a DoD installation 
in Colorado named Pueblo Chemical Depot (“the depot”). You state that the depot has 
contamination of various constituents of concern1 throughout the facility where a specific area 
was identified as being in contact with explosive nitro-aromatic compounds (e.g., TNT, 
Dinitrotoluene, RDX, etc.). You state that these compounds have contaminated the groundwater 
and you state that analysis of the post treatment groundwater samples display traces of certain 
explosive compounds at approximately 0.053 µg/l. You ask questions regarding the applicability 
of the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA) explosive approval 
process for waste generated with trace amounts of these constituents of concern. We have 
paraphrased and answered your questions as follows: 
 
Q1. You ask whether any debris (e.g., personal protective equipment (PPE)) that may have 

been exposed to waste streams containing trace amounts of explosive compounds must 
have an explosives examination report submitted to PHMSA for review under the 
explosive approval process. 

 
A1.  The answer is yes. Waste material that is exposed to and contaminated with explosive 

compounds is considered a “new explosive.” A new explosive is an explosive produced 
by a person who has not previously produced that explosive or has previously produced 
that explosive but has made a change in the formulation, design, or process to alter any of 
the properties of the explosive (see § 173.56). The term “formulation”—as used in the 
definition of a new explosive—applies to the entire mixture and not just the explosive 
components. Any changes must be examined to determine whether the properties have 
been altered and this may not be self-determined but must be determined in accordance 

 
1 Any substance defined as a hazardous substance, hazardous waste, hazardous material, toxic substance, solid 
waste, pollutant, or contaminant by an Environmental Law (https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/constituent-of-
concern). 

https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/constituent-of-concern
https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/constituent-of-concern


with § 173.56(b). If the explosive compounds are mixed with filters, rags, dirt, or other 
material (e.g., diluted with contaminated water or other solvents), it is considered a “new 
explosive” and must be approved in accordance with § 173.56(b). 

However, it is the shipper’s responsibility to determine whether a specific piece of waste 
material generated from the site is contaminated with explosive residue. Please note, if 
further process to decontaminate or neutralize contaminated PPE before declaring it as 
waste or if further sampling indicates there is no longer detectable explosive content, it 
would be possible to determine the PPE is no longer an explosive hazardous material. 

Q2.  You believe that the contaminated water would be considered non-hazardous waste based 
on the trace amount of explosive compound identified in the groundwater and you ask 
whether the HMR has allowances for a de minimis quantity exception for explosive 
material. You also seek confirmation that assigning a non-regulated hazardous material 
description for the material is appropriate and would not warrant submission and review 
in accordance with the requirements found in § 173.56(b). 

A2.  The answer is no. All compositions containing any amount of explosive material—
including compositions of diluted (desensitized) explosives or explosives combined or 
contaminated with other materials—meet the definition of a new explosive and must be 
classified and approved by PHMSA. However, this process may result in a determination 
that the material is not an explosive and thus not regulated. 

Please note that in accordance with § 173.56(i), if experience or other data indicate that 
the hazard of a material or a device containing an explosive composition is greater or less 
than indicated according to the definitions and criteria specified in §§ 173.50, 173.56, and 
173.58, the Associate Administrator may specify a classification or except the material or 
device from the requirements of the HMR. 

I hope this information is helpful. Please contact us if we can be of further assistance. 

Sincerely, 

Dirk Der Kinderen 
Chief, Standards Development Branch 
Standards and Rulemaking Division 
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Hello,

Please see below.

Thanks,

T’Mia Raynor
Webmaster, Office of the PHMSA CIO
US Department of Transportation
Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration
1200 New Jersey Ave. SE, Washington, D.C., 20590
Office: 202.366.9818 ◊ Mobile: 202.580.9447

PHMSA Home | LinkedIn | Twitter | HAZMAT | OPS

From: Virginia, Frank <frankvirginia@aetenvironmental.com> 
Sent: Monday, March 6, 2023 5:36 PM
To: PHMSA Website Manager <PHMSAWebsiteManager@dot.gov>
Cc: Rosinski, Pamela A CIV USARMY USAMC (USA) <pamela.a.rosinski.civ@army.mil>; Monical, Lee B
<monical.lee@cleanharbors.com>
Subject: Interpretation of New Explosives (173.56)

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the Department of Transportation (DOT). Do
not click on links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content
is safe.

To whom it may concern:

My firm manages hazardous and non-hazardous waste for a variety of Generators across a wide
variety of industry sectors and government agencies. 

In this particular instance, I am working with a DOD instillation, Pueblo Chemical Depot, in Pueblo,
CO.  The site is slated for closure in the coming years but was very instrumental in our success during
the cold war and had broad mission.   Fast forward to today (70 years later) and there is wide spread
contamination of various constituents of concern (COC) throughout the facility.  The Army worked
with the State of Colorado (CDPHE) to identify and establish corrective action measures for various
areas of concern throughout the site, which brings us to my question.
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Solid Waste Management Unit (SWMU 17) is an area that came in contact with explosive materials
years ago that eventually contaminated the ground water. Nitro-aromatic compounds (TNT, Dinitro-
toluene, etc), RDX, etc.) have been identified in the ground water.  A Corrective Action measure,
approved by the State, calls for the ground water to be extracted, treated and reinjected back to
ground, and to take quarterly samples from monitoring wells.
 
Most recent analysis of the water shows traces of certain explosive compounds at 0.053 ug/l. 
Excerpts from the analysis and a more detailed discussion of the history of the site and the
corrective action measures are outlined in the attached file.
 
The generator is trying to profile non-hazardous PPE and debris from this process.  The debris may or
may not have come in direct contact with ground water containing trace levels (0.53ug/l) of
explosive compounds.
The disposal firm (Clean Harbors) is asking for an EX number demonstrating that the generator has
made a submission of this “material” (non-hazardous waste), as a “newly manufactured” explosive
for review and concurrence by PHMSA.  The generator maintains that this is not necessary, as this
not a new explosive and nothing is being manufactured.  This is simple a non-hazardous waste, that
has been generated during implementation of corrective action measures, that may or may not have
come in contact with water, that may have de minimus traces of explosive compounds.  The
generator believes that assigning a non-regulated DOT description is appropriate and does not
believe that it requires submission and review under 173.56(b). 
 
Could you please give us your interpretation in this matter
 
I would appreciate a prompt response.
 
Kind Regards,
 
 
 
 
Frank Virginia
AET Environmental, Inc
14 Lakeside Ln
Denver, CO 80212
(O) 303.333.8521

 
The information contained in this e-mail communication and any attached documentation is
intended only for the exclusive use of the designated recipient(s). If the reader or recipient of this e-
mail and any attached documentation is not the intended recipient or an employee or agent of the
intended recipient who is responsible for delivering it to the intended recipient, you are hereby
notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this e-mail and any attached
documentation is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please immediately



notify the sender by return e-mail and promptly delete the e-mail and any attached documentation.
This e-mail and any attached documentation may contain information that is privileged, confidential,
proprietary or otherwise protected by law. This notice serves as a confidentiality marking for the
purpose of any confidentiality or nondisclosure agreement. Receipt of this e-mail and the attached
documentation by anyone other than the intended recipient shall not be deemed a waiver of any
rights of confidentiality.






































